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About ICARDA

Established in 1977, the International Center for Agricultural Research in the Dry Areas (ICARDA) is a non-profit 
international organization undertaking people-centered research-for-development to provide innovative, science-based 
solutions to improve the livelihoods of communities across the non-tropical dry areas. In partnership with research 
institutions, governments, NGOs and the private sector, our work advances scientific knowledge, shapes practices, and 
informs policy.

Address

Dalia Building, Second Floor, Bashir El Kasser St, Verdun, Beirut, Lebanon 1108-2010.
www.icarda.org

Disclaimer

 This document is licensed for use under the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported Licence.
 To view this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/

Unless otherwise noted, you are free to copy, duplicate, or reproduce and distribute, display, or transmit any part of this 
publication or portions thereof without permission, and to make translations, adaptations, or other derivative works 
under the following conditions:

 ATTRIBUTION. The work must be attributed, but not in any way that suggests endorsement by the publisher 
 or the author(s).
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Statement by the Chair of the Board of Trustees 
of ICARDA
The ICARDA Board of Trustees is responsible for overseeing ICARDA’s governance and ensuring its mission and 
objectives are achieved sustainably and within set financial limits. In 2019, ICARDA continued to deliver groundbreaking 
innovation and sustainable capacity development for agri-food systems across the non-tropical drylands. Proactive and 
pragmatic management, combined with committed staff, partners, (particularly National Agriculture Research Systems 
(NARS)) and donors, have made this possible.

Progress with the ICARDA Strategic Plan 2017-2026

Research: In 2019, ICARDA significantly advanced the implementation of its 2017-2026 Strategic Plan, supported by key 
partners and donors, including in the countries where we work. 

ICARDA’s participation with these stakeholders, as well as with CGIAR Research Programs, other institutes and Big Data 
has created strong bonds and integration with scientific communities covering a wide diversity of disciplines in ICARDA’s 
research programs. 

 � With the support of the Excellence in Breeding Platform and after an independent review of ICARDA’s breeding 
programs, ICARDA is fully engaged in their upgrading. 

 � In collaboration with other CGIAR Centers, ICARDA made vital contributions to the development of the Two Degree 
Initiative in which ICARDA leads the MENA Grand Challenge, the Livestock Initiative, the CGIAR GENDER Platform, 
and the Excellence in Agronomy Initiative. 

 � ICARDA continues to lead development of the DryArc Initiative, in collaboration with seven other CGIAR Centers. 
The DryArc, with its systemic approach of innovation in dryland agri-food systems under water scarcity and climate 
change will make significant contribution to SDGs 2 (Zero Hunger), 6 (Clean water and sanitation), 8 (Decent work 
and economic growth) and 17 (Partnerships for the goals) at the core, with additional contribution to SDGs 1 (No 
poverty), 12 (Responsible consumption and production), 13 (Climate action) and 15 (Life on land). It is being used as 
a framework to restructure ICARDA research programs into more strategic research teams.

Country and Regional Offices: The twelve ICARDA Country, Regional and Project Offices were restructured in 2019 
under the leadership of the DDG-R to create greater efficiency in program delivery and fundraising. 

 � Outreach and research activities are now integrated into one strategy under one leadership.
 � Collaboration with research teams is strengthened.
 � Scaling up improved technologies and systemic innovation in partnership with countries is improved.
 � Improved services and efficiency, and the ability to better support research delivery, has been achieved through 

enhanced integration of corporate services across the organization.

Capacity Development: During 2019, the Capacity Development Unit continued its expansion under full funding by 
projects, and with special support by AFESD for the training of Master and PhD students from Arab countries. 

 � More than 1,250 trainees (42% women) from national programs were supported at 60 special courses. 
 � ICARDA’s partnership with CIHEAM was further developed with four international courses on Food Loss and Waste, 

Livestock and Climate Change, Big Data in Agri-Food Systems, and Farming Systems Design.
 � ICARDA’s online training platform and the ICARDA alumni group were expanded. 

ONE CGIAR: ICARDA Board members and Management are actively engaged in the reform process designed to 
create a more unified and integrated CGIAR, known as “One CGIAR”. The Director General was appointed as the DG 
Co-Convener to the CGIAR General Assembly and was actively involved in coordinating all 13 Centers’/Alliances’ 
engagement in the future One CGIAR system and research programs. ICARDA Board and Management continue to 
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engage in the One CGIAR process at different levels, through the System Management Board, Transitional Consultation 
Forum, Transition Advisory Groups, CGIAR Communities of Practice, and working groups. Through these regular 
meetings of various groups, constructive feedback is provided by ICARDA on a continuous basis.

Program Highlights

ICARDA strengthened its role as a global leader and collaborator in dryland science through its research partnerships, 
open-access data, and proven successes:

 � More than 7000 germplasm accessions and elite germplasm of its mandate crops were shared in 46 countries to 
support adaptation to climate change and sustainable intensification. 

 � Experiments and modelling proved that Conservation Agriculture is a viable option in North Africa to adapt rainfed 
cereal-livestock farming systems to climate change. 

 � Due to the success of the Farming with Alternative Pollinators (FAP) approach, Morocco was the first Arab country to 
join the Coalition of The Willing on Pollinators and began development of a cross-sector pollinator-protection strategy. 

 � Genome-wide scans in Ethiopia identified known and novel regions associated with prolificacy and reproduction 
traits in Bonga sheep, that can increase livestock numbers and income for farmers.

 � In MENA, integrated management systems with rainwater harvesting, biodiversity restauration and livestock grazing 
management have been developed to improve socio-ecological resilience in low rainfall rangeland areas. 

 � In collaboration with FAO, NARS partners and the University of Cordoba, ICARDA established an international 
network to improve water management and increase productivity of a wide range of crops in farmers’ fields across 
the MENA region. 

 � In India, ICARDA developed innovative tools based on remote sensing and artificial intelligence to support scaling 
of improved technologies (cactus and lentil varieties) with ex ante assessment and suitability mapping (assessing 
regions and methods for suitability of said technologies)

Financial Highlights

ICARDA’s income in 2019 was USD 28.202m. Income levels from the CRPs and bilateral projects were maintained in 
2019. The USD 4m drop in income from 2018 is owed to the decrease of Window 3 funding from three key donors 
following the completion of the projects. In spite of efforts to mobilize new resources and contain costs, an operating 
loss of USD 0.964m was incurred in 2019. A further loss of USD 0.114m was incurred on non-operating items, resulting 
in an overall deficit of USD 1.068m. This brings down the level of net assets to USD 5.699m, noting that USD 1.918m of 
this amount is dedicated to funding property and equipment. The level of reserves is equivalent to 47 days of operations 
and the liquidity ratio is 87 days. The rate of collection of donor receivables improved during the year.

The Board and Management took additional steps to improve ICARDA’s financial health in 2019. They are determined 
to address the root causes of the deficit in a sustainable manner, notably through the plan for reprioritization of 
research delivery approved by the Board in April 2020 and the continuous implementation of the financial management 
improvement plan. 

Partnerships, Resource Mobilization and Grant Management

The processes and tools put in place in 2019 for projects development, partnership and fundraising are actively 
integrating research teams and country offices, under the DDG-R’s leadership, to support ICARDA’s Strategic Plan. A 
total of 53 contracts with 34 donors were signed totaling USD 22.586m and covering activities in 39 countries. Focused 
engagement by ICARDA (across research and corporate functions) with the CGIAR has taken place to ensure ICARDA’s 
inclusion in new One CGIAR portfolio in terms of science as well as funding opportunities. Additionally, new modalities 
of partnership have been developed, including closer engagement with in-country Ministries and private companies 
and streamlining ICARDA’s work in service delivery. Engagement of ICARDA as a lead-partner in a Regional Event (FAO 
Innovation Forum – cancelled due to COVID-19) is indicative of the recognized contribution of the organization.
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Staff

I thank all ICARDA staff, consultants, students and interns for their hard work and dedication to  ICARDA’s mandate and 
the people we impact. The delivery of ICARDA R4D strategy and collaboration with NARS partners is progressing well. 
Gender diversity, equity and inclusion activities, training on unconscious bias, awareness briefing on harassment and 
discrimination, are continuing to improve recruitment processes to attract more women across all positions. 

Appreciation

I deeply thank ICARDA’s donors, partners in the NARS, other research partners and the CGIAR System Organization for 
their continued support without which our work to support communities across global drylands would not be possible.

----------------------
Dr. Michel Afram

Chair, ICARDA Board of Trustees

30 April 2020
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Board Statement on Risk Management and 
Internal Control

The Board is responsible for ensuring that an appropriate risk management system is in place to identify, assess, manage 
and monitor significant risks faced by the Center in achieving its mandate. These include operational, financial, legal and 
reputational risks that are inherent in the Center’s activities and locations.

The Board has adopted a formal risk management policy which serves as a framework for risk management activities 
carried out by the Center.  The Board has received assurance from ICARDA Management that the Center’s risk 
management and internal control systems are operating adequately and effectively in all material aspects based on the 
existing risk management and internal control systems of the Center. The Board of Trustees is committed to ICARDA 
having a strong control environment.

The Center performs at least semi-annual Center-wide risk assessments. The Center endeavors to manage these risks by 
ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and people are in place throughout the organization. Based 
on the last risk assessment exercise carried out in April 2020, the following are the Center’s most critical risks:

 � Uncertainty on the short-term and long-term effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on ICARDA’s staff, partners, 
hosting countries, donors and other stakeholders,

 � Staff caught up in civil disorder in conflict regions where ICARDA operates leading to illness, injury, even loss of life,
 � Inadequate income to deliver strategy and maintain a sound infrastructure, a strong internal control environment 

and a sufficient level of financial reserves, and
 � ICARDA has been undergoing major changes over an extended period of time which, combined with persistent 

resource constraints and the implications of COVID-19 on the way ICARDA works, may result in staff burn-out.

Risk mitigation strategies include the implementation of systems of internal controls which, by their nature, are designed 
to manage rather than eliminate risks. Key practices employed in managing risks and opportunities include carrying 
out environmental scans, ensuring that policies and accountabilities are clear, using transaction approval frameworks, 
reviewing financial and management reports, implementing sound human resource management practices and 
monitoring of results across a broad range of key performance areas as well as external reviews. 

The design and effectiveness of the risk management system is reviewed by the Center’s Internal Audit Unit. The Internal 
Audit Unit is independent of the Center’s operating units and reports on the results of its audits directly to the Board of 
Trustees through its Finance and Audit Committee.

The Board is of the view that the system of risk management and internal control in place at ICARDA (i) since the Board’s 
last Statement of Risk Management and Internal Control of 29 May 2019, and (ii) up to and including the date of issuance 
of both this annual Board Statement and ICARDA’s 2019 financial statements, safeguard the interests of the Center.

----------------------

Michel Afram

ICARDA Board Chair

30 April 2020
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Management Statement of Responsibilities for 
Financial Reporting
The accompanying financial statements of the International Center for Agricultural Research in the Dry Areas (ICARDA) 
for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, are the responsibility of management. ICARDA management is also 
responsible for the substance and objectivity of the information contained therein. Our financial reporting practices follow 
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) with guidance provided by the CGIAR IFRS Compliant Reporting 
Guidelines (2017).  

ICARDA maintains a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, and 
transactions are properly executed and recorded in accordance with Board approved policies including the Delegation of 
Authority. A system of reporting within ICARDA presents management with an accurate view of the operations, enabling us 
to discern the risks to our assets or fluctuations in the economic environment of ICARDA at an early stage and at the same 
time providing a reliable basis for the financial statements and management reports.

The Board of Trustees exercises its responsibility for these financial statements through its Finance and Audit Committee 
(FAC). The FAC meets regularly with management and representatives of the external and internal auditors to review matters 
relating to financial reporting, internal controls and auditing.

----------------------                                                                                      ----------------------

30 April 2020
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As of 31 December 2019, and 2018 

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Statement of Financial Position 

Notes 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

ASSETS

Current Assets 

     Cash and cash equivalents  3  8,466  10,698 

     Accounts Receivable 
          Donors 4  8,913  6,928 

          Employees 5  131  140 
          Others, net 6  2,833  1,407 
     Funds in Trust 7  268  502 

     Advances and prepayments 8  243  166 

Total current assets  20,854  19,841 
Non-current assets

     Property and equipment 9  1,366  1,686 

     Intangible assets 10  263  517 

     Right-of-use Assets 11  289  - 
Total non-current assets  1,918  2,203 

TOTAL ASSETS  22,772  22,044 
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Notes 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities 
     Accounts payables
          Deferred income from donors 12  4,925  4,573 
          Employees 13  765  762 

          Accruals 14  1,269  1,022 

          Others 15  2,004  2,273 
     Lease Liabilities 16  160  - 
     Provisions 17  1,329  478 
     Funds in Trust 18  3,514  3,305 
Total current liabilities  13,966  12,413 
Non- Current liabilities 
     Lease Liabilities 16  115  - 
     Provisions 17  2,992  2,864 
Total non-current liabilities  3,107  2,864 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  17,073  15,277 

NET ASSETS 

Unrestricted Net assets 

          Undesignated  20  781  497 
          Designated Special fund  20  3,000  - 
          Designated Property and Equipment  20  1,742  5,711 

          IFRS Adoption  20  176  559 

TOTAL NET ASSETS  5,699  6,767 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS  22,772  22,044 

As of 31 December 2019, and 2018 (cont.)

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Statement of Financial Position (cont.) 

15



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018/19

2
0

1
9

2
0

1
8

U
nr

es
tr

ic
te

d
Re

st
ric

te
d

To
ta

l
G

ra
nd

 T
ot

al
U

nr
es

tr
ic

te
d

Re
st

ric
te

d
To

ta
l

G
ra

nd
 T

ot
al

Po
rtf

ol
io

 
N

on
-

Po
rtf

ol
io

  
N

on
-

Po
rtf

ol
io

 
N

on
-

Po
rtf

ol
io

N
on

-
Po

rtf
ol

io
N

on
-

Po
rtf

ol
io

N
on

-
Re

ve
nu

e
N

o
te

s
Po

rtf
ol

io
Po

rtf
ol

io
Po

rtf
ol

io
Po

rtf
ol

io
Po

rtf
ol

io
Po

rtf
ol

io
G

ra
nt

 R
ev

en
ue

W
in

do
w

 1
 &

 2
A

pp
 1

 - 
 - 

 7
,3

44
 

 - 
 7

,3
44

 
 - 

 7
,3

44
 

 - 
 - 

 7
,4

17
 

 - 
 7

,4
17

 
 - 

 7
,4

17
 

W
in

do
w

 3
A

pp
 1

 - 
 5

0
 

 2
,8

2
0

 
 4

39
 

 2
,8

2
0

 
 4

89
 

 3
,3

09
 

 - 
 3

9 
 3

,6
05

 
 2

,9
23

 
 3

,6
05

 
 2

,9
6

2
 

 6
,5

6
7

 

Bi
la

te
ra

l
A

pp
 1

 - 
 - 

 1
2,

57
4 

 4
,5

67
 

 1
2,

57
4 

 4
,5

67
 

 1
7,

14
1 

 - 
 3

45
 

 1
0

,9
1

0
 

 6
,4

41
 

 1
0

,9
1

0
 

 6
,7

8
6

 
 1

7
,6

9
6

 

To
ta

l G
ra

nt
 R

ev
en

ue
 - 

 5
0

 
 2

2,
73

8 
 5

,0
0

6
 

 2
2,

73
8 

 5
,0

5
6

 
 2

7,
79

4 
 - 

 3
84

 
 2

1,
93

2 
 9

,3
64

 
 2

1,
93

2 
 9

,7
48

 
 3

1,
68

0 
O

th
er

 R
ev

en
ue

 a
nd

 G
ai

ns
N

ot
e 

19
 - 

 4
08

 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 4
08

 
 4

08
 

 - 
 4

60
 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 4

60
 

 4
60

 
To

ta
l R

ev
en

ue
 - 

 4
58

 
 2

2,
73

8 
 5

,0
0

6
 

 2
2,

73
8 

 5
,4

64
 

 2
8

,2
0

2
 

 - 
 8

44
 

 2
1,

93
2 

 9
,3

64
 

 2
1,

93
2 

 1
0

,2
0

8
 

 3
2,

14
0 

Ex
pe

ns
es

 a
nd

 L
os

se
s

Re
se

ar
ch

 E
xp

en
se

s
 - 

 5
83

 
 1

6
,9

0
8

 
 3

,7
28

 
 1

6
,9

0
8

 
 4

,3
11

 
 2

1
,2

1
9

 
 - 

 1
7

0
 

 1
7,

48
8 

 6
,0

8
7

 
 1

7,
48

8 
 6

,2
5

7
 

 2
3,

74
5 

CG
IA

R 
Co

lla
bo

ra
tio

n 
Co

st
s

 - 
 1

4 
 3

42
 

 - 
 3

42
 

 1
4 

 3
56

 
 - 

 - 
 1

2
5

 
 - 

 1
2

5
 

 - 
 1

2
5

 

O
th

er
 C

ol
la

bo
ra

tio
n 

Co
st

s
 - 

 - 
 2

,8
35

 
 8

1
0

 
 2

,8
35

 
 8

1
0

 
 3

,6
45

 
 - 

 - 
 1

,9
5

6
 

 2
,3

61
 

 1
,9

5
6

 
 2

,3
61

 
 4

,3
17

 
G

en
er

al
 a

nd
 A

dm
in

ist
ra

tio
n 

Ex
pe

ns
es

 - 
 8

2
5

 
 2

,6
53

 
 4

68
 

 2
,6

53
 

 1
,2

93
 

 3
,9

46
 

 - 
 1

,1
2

7
 

 2
,3

63
 

 9
1

6
 

 2
,3

63
 

 2
,0

43
 

 4
,4

06
 

O
th

er
 E

xp
en

se
s 

an
d 

Lo
ss

es
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
To

ta
l E

xp
en

se
s 

an
d 

Lo
ss

es
 - 

 1
,4

22
 

 2
2,

73
8 

 5
,0

0
6

 
 2

2,
73

8 
 6

,4
28

 
 2

9
,1

6
6

 
 - 

 1
,2

9
7

 
 2

1,
93

2 
 9

,3
64

 
 2

1,
93

2 
 1

0
,6

6
1

 
 3

2,
59

3 

O
pe

ra
tin

g 
D

efi
ci

t
 - 

 (9
64

)
 - 

 - 
 - 

 (9
64

)
 (9

64
)

 - 
 (4

53
)

 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 (4
53

)
 (4

53
)

N
on

 O
pe

ra
tin

g
Pr

ov
isi

on
 - 

D
ou

btf
ul

 D
on

or
 R

ec
ei

va
bl

e
 - 

 (1
30

)
 - 

 - 
 - 

 (1
30

)
 (1

30
)

 - 
 (6

99
)

 - 
 - 

 - 
 (6

99
)

 (6
99

)
W

rit
e-

ba
ck

 o
f D

on
or

 R
ec

ei
va

bl
e 

Pr
ov

isi
on

 - 
 2

63
 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 2

63
 

 2
63

 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

IF
RS

 T
ra

ns
iti

on
 A

dj
us

tm
en

ts
 - 

 (3
71

)
 - 

 - 
 - 

 (3
71

)
 (3

71
)

 - 
 (1

,0
57

)
 - 

 - 
 - 

 (1
,0

57
)

 (1
,0

57
)

Pr
ov

isi
on

 - 
Ba

nk
 A

ss
et

 Im
pa

irm
en

t
 - 

 (3
)

 - 
 - 

 - 
 (3

)
 (3

)
 - 

 (1
19

)
 - 

 - 
 - 

 (1
19

)
 (1

19
)

Re
ve

rs
al

 o
f P

ro
vi

sio
n 

- C
on

tin
ge

nt
 L

eg
al

 C
la

im
 - 

 9
5

 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 9
5

 
 9

5
 

 - 
 (1

50
)

 - 
 - 

 - 
 (1

50
)

 (1
50

)
Lo

ss
 o

n 
sa

le
 o

f a
ss

et
(s)

 - 
 (9

)
 - 

 - 
 - 

 (9
)

 (9
)

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
In

te
re

st
 E

xp
en

se
 o

f R
ig

ht
-o

f-
U

se
 A

ss
et

s
 (2

0)
 - 

 - 
 - 

 (2
0)

 (2
0)

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
Fi

na
nc

e 
In

co
m

e
 - 

 7
6

 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 7
6

 
 7

6
 

 - 
 2

1
 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 2

1
 

 2
1

 

Fi
na

nc
e 

Ex
pe

ns
es

 - 
 (5

)
 - 

 - 
 - 

 (5
)

 (5
)

 - 
 (1

57
)

 - 
 - 

 - 
 (1

57
)

 (1
57

)

D
EF

IC
IT

 F
O

R 
TH

E 
YE

A
R

 - 
 (1

,0
68

)
 - 

 - 
 - 

 (1
,0

68
)

 (1
,0

68
)

 - 
 (2

,6
14

)
 - 

 - 
 - 

 (2
,6

14
)

 (2
,6

14
)

O
TH

ER
 C

O
M

PR
EH

EN
SI

V
E 

IN
CO

M
E

U
nr

ea
liz

ed
 g

ai
n/

lo
ss

-H
ed

gi
ng

 a
cti

vi
tie

s
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
Ac

tu
ar

ia
l g

ai
n/

lo
ss

-D
efi

ne
d 

be
ne

fit
 p

la
n

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l 
O

th
e

r 
C

o
m

p
re

h
e

n
si

v
e

 I
n

co
m

e
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 -

 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 -

 

TO
TA

L 
CO

M
PR

EH
EN

SI
V

E 
D

EF
IC

IT
 F

O
R 

TH
E 

YE
A

R
 - 

(1
,0

68
)

 - 
 - 

 - 
(1

,0
68

)
 (1

,0
68

)
 - 

(2
,6

14
)

 - 
 - 

 - 
(2

,6
14

)
 (2

,6
14

)

F
o

r 
th

e
 y

e
a

r 
e

n
d

e
d

 3
1

 D
e

ce
m

b
e

r 

In
 U

.S
. D

o
lla

rs
 T

h
o

u
sa

n
d

s

St
at

em
en

t o
f A

cti
vi

tie
s a

nd
 O

th
er

 C
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 In

co
m

e 

16



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018/19

2
0

1
9

2
0

1
8

U
n

re
st

ri
ct

e
d

R
e

st
ri

ct
e

d
To

ta
l

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

U
n

re
st

ri
ct

e
d

R
e

st
ri

ct
e

d
To

ta
l

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

Po
rtf

ol
io

N
o

n
-

Po
rtf

ol
io

Po
rtf

ol
io

N
o

n
-

Po
rtf

ol
io

Po
rtf

ol
io

N
o

n
-

Po
rtf

ol
io

Po
rtf

ol
io

N
o

n
-

Po
rtf

ol
io

Po
rtf

ol
io

N
o

n
-

Po
rtf

ol
io

Po
rtf

ol
io

N
o

n
-

Po
rtf

ol
io

E
x

p
e

n
se

s 
a

n
d

 L
o

ss
e

s

Pe
rs

on
ne

l c
os

ts
 - 

 3
,2

04
 

 7
,0

2
2

 
 1

,3
32

 
 7

,0
2

2
 

 4
,5

36
 

 1
1

,5
5

8
 

 - 
 3

,0
39

 
 7

,4
17

 
 1

,8
6

1
 

 7
,4

17
 

 4
,9

00
 

 1
2,

31
7 

CG
IA

R 
Co

lla
bo

ra
to

r E
xp

en
se

s
 - 

 1
4 

 3
42

 
 - 

 3
42

 
 1

4 
 3

56
 

 - 
 - 

 1
2

5
 

 - 
 1

2
5

 
 - 

 1
2

5
 

N
on

 C
G

IA
R 

Co
lla

bo
ra

to
r E

xp
en

se
s

 - 
 - 

 2
,8

35
 

 8
1

0
 

 2
,8

35
 

 8
1

0
 

 3
,6

45
 

 - 
 - 

 1
,9

5
6

 
 2

,3
61

 
 1

,9
5

6
 

 2
,3

61
 

 4
,3

17
 

Su
pp

lie
s 

an
d 

se
rv

ic
es

 - 
 5

2
6

 
 8

,0
84

 
 2

,0
6

9
 

 8
,0

84
 

 2
,5

9
5

 
 1

0
,6

7
9

 
 - 

 6
8

8
 

 8
,8

31
 

 3
,6

61
 

 8
,8

31
 

 4
,3

49
 

 1
3,

18
0 

Tr
av

el
 - 

 1
84

 
 9

9
6

 
 2

2
1

 
 9

9
6

 
 4

05
 

 1
,4

01
 

 - 
 2

7
5

 
 9

83
 

 4
22

 
 9

83
 

 6
9

7
 

 1
,6

8
0

 

D
ep

re
ci

ati
on

/A
m

or
tiz

ati
on

 - 
 6

1
5

 
 5

34
 

 2
5

 
 5

34
 

 6
40

 
 1

,1
74

 
 - 

 5
32

 
 6

0
 

 9
 

 6
0

 
 5

41
 

 6
0

1
 

Co
st

 s
ha

rin
g 

pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 - 

 1
 

 2
7

2
 

 8
0

 
 2

7
2

 
 8

1
 

 3
53

 
 - 

 4
2 

 1
9

7
 

 1
34

 
 1

9
7

 
 1

7
6

 
 3

73
 

To
ta

l d
ire

ct
 c

os
ts

 - 
 4

,5
44

 
 2

0
,0

8
5

 
 4

,5
37

 
 2

0
,0

8
5

 
 9

,0
8

1
 

 2
9

,1
6

6
 

 - 
 4

,5
76

 
 1

9
,5

6
9

 
 8

,4
48

 
 1

9
,5

6
9

 
 1

3,
02

4 
 3

2,
59

3 
In

di
re

ct
 c

os
t r

ec
ov

er
y

 - 
 (3

,1
22

)
 

 2
,6

53
 

 4
69

 
 2

,6
53

 
 (2

,6
53

)
 - 

 - 
 (3

,2
79

)
 2

,3
63

 
 9

1
6

 
 2

,3
63

 
 (2

,3
63

)
 - 

To
ta

l-a
ll 

co
st

s
 - 

 1
,4

22
 

 
 2

2,
73

8 
 5

,0
0

6
 

 2
2,

73
8 

 6
,4

28
 

 2
9

,1
6

6
 

 - 
 1

,2
9

7
 

 2
1,

93
2 

 9
,3

64
 

 2
1,

93
2 

 1
0

,6
6

1
 

 3
2,

59
3 

F
o

r 
th

e
 y

e
a

rs
 e

n
d

e
d

 3
1

 D
e

ce
m

b
e

r 

In
 U

.S
. D

o
lla

rs
 T

h
o

u
sa

n
d

s

Ex
pe

ns
es

 b
y 

N
at

ur
al

 C
la

ss
ifi

ca
tio

n

17



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018/19

Undesignated 

General
Designated (Note 20) TOTAL
Special 
fund

Property 
and 

Equipment

Reserve for 
Replacement 
of Property 
and 

Equipment

Sub-total 
Designated 
Property and 
Equipment

IFRS 
Impact

Adjusted Balance at 
1 January 2018

 2,054  -  1,739  3,972  5,711  1,616  9,381 

Depreciation for the year  -  -  (603)  603  - (1,057)  (1,057)
Appropriation from 
Undesignated to 
designated

 -  -  -  -  -  - 

Additions during the year  -  -  507  (507)  -  -  - 
Disposals during the year  -  -  6  (6)  -  -  - 
Recovery of Assets during 
the year

 -  -  (5)  5  -  -  - 

Adjustment of Cost of 
Assets

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Deficit for the year  (1,557)  -  -  -  -  (1,557)

Balance at 31 December 
2018

 497  -  1,644  4,067  5,711  559  6,767 

IFRS Depreication 
changes 

 -  -  -  -  -  (371)  (371)

Depreciation for the year  -  -  (1,174)  -  (1,174)  -  (1,174)
Additions during the year  -  -  1,272  -  1,272  -  1,272 

Disposals during the year  -  -  2,464  -  2,464  13  2,477 
Recovery of Assets during 
the year

 -  -  (2,464)  -  (2,464)  (25)  (2,489)

Deficit for the year  (685)  -  -  -  -  -  (685)
Reclassification of net 
asset

 969  3,000  -  (4,067)  (4,067)  -  (98)

Balance at 31 December 
2019

 781  3,000  1,742  -  1,742  176  5,699 

Years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
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Years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Statement of Cash Flows 

2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Deficit for the year  (1,068)  (2,614)

Adjustments to reconcile changes in net assets to net cash provided by operating 
activities
     Depreciation  1,048  1,338 
     Right of use  - Lease asset  166  - 
     Amortization  331  321 
     Asset disposal  (2,477)  (261)
     Finance lease interest  20  - 
     Interest income  (22)  (21)
     Unrealized foreign exchange (Gain) Loss  (54)  155 

Decrease/(increase) in assets

Accounts receivable
     Donors  (1,985)  6,550 

     Employees  9  1 

     Fund In Trust  234  62 

     Others, net  (1,426)  793 
Advances and prepayments  (95)  (11)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities 
Accounts payable
     Deferred income from donors  352  (4,227)
     Employees  3  70 

     Accruals   247  528 

     Others  (269)  (302)
     Lease liabilities  (162)  - 
Fund In Trust  209  857 

Staff provisions  979  733 

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities  (3,960)  3,972 
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2019 2018

Cash flows from investing activities
     Additions to property and equipment  (740)  (507)
     Acquisition of intangible assets  (77)  - 
     Disposal of Assets  2,489  261 

     Finance lease interest  (20)  - 
     Interest received  22  21 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities  1,674  (225)

Net effect of foreign exchange  54  (155)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (2,232)  3,592 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  10,698  7,106 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  8,466  10,698 

Years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 (cont.)

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Statement of Cash Flows (cont.) 
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Notes to Financial Statements
Note 1 – General Information 

1.1 Background and Strategy

The International Center for Agricultural Research in the Dry Areas (ICARDA, or the Center) is an autonomous not-for-
profit international organization, governed by a Board of Trustees.  It was established by IBRD, IDRC, FAO and UNDP. The 
Center’s charter was executed in November 1975 and amended in June 1976, May 1990, June 1998 and September 2015.

ICARDA is one of the fifteen independent Centers that make up the CGIAR (formerly Consultative Group for 
International Agricultural Research). The CGIAR is a global partnership for a food secure future dedicated to reducing 
poverty, enhancing food and nutrition security, and improving natural resources. The CGIAR is the world’s largest global 
agricultural innovation network. It provides evidence to policy makers, innovation to partners, and new tools to harness 
the economic, environmental and nutritional power of agriculture.

In October 2017, the Board approved the Center’s new Strategic Plan 2017-2026.  According to that plan, the Center’s 
mission is to enhance food, water, and nutritional security and environmental health in the face of global challenges, 
including climate change.

ICARDA’s operations are conducted in accordance with the annual Program of Work and Budget approved by the Board 
yearly.  The 2019 Program of Work and Budget and the 2020 Program of Work and Budget approved in November 
2019 reflect the prioritization of certain research delivery mechanisms to align ICARDA’s research even more closely 
to the needs of its in-country stakeholders and NARS partners in view of the evolving research for development 
landscape.  ICARDA’s focus continued to move towards the integration and scaling of systemic solutions, increased 
capacity development, to support the modernization and optimization of its breeding practices, and to increase focus 
on agronomy and advisory services. ICARDA has continued to promote the Dry Arc Initiative in conjunction with seven 
other CGIAR Centers and other partners in 2019 and has been involved in other initiatives of One CGIAR (Two Degree, 
Excellence in Breeding, Excellence in Agronomy).Since the end of 2018 especially, ICARDA has been reviewing its 
current expansive footprint and has taken a range of actions to address the root causes of the financial deficit.

1.2 CGIAR Research Programs

In 2011, the CGIAR introduced a new programmatic-based approach to doing agricultural research through CGIAR 
Research Programs (CRPs). Each CRP is led by a designated CGIAR Center (Lead Center), which is responsible, through a 
Program Implementation Agreement (PIA), for overseeing the implementation of the CRP by program partners.  Partners 
include other CGIAR Centers and institutions that are subcontracted by the Lead Center through a Program Participant 
Agreement (PPA) or other form of contracting agreements.  The first phase of these CRPs ended in 2016.

In 2017, the new phase of CRPs commenced.  Out of the 11 CRPs under the new phase, ICARDA is a participant in six 
CRPs (1- Livestock; 2 – Wheat; 3- Grain Legumes and Dryland Cereals,, 4 - Climate Change for Agriculture and Food 
Security; 5- Policies, Institutions and Markets; and 6 – Water, Land and Ecosystems).  Three research platforms were also 
opened and ICARDA is a participant in two (1 – Big Data; and 2 – Genebank).  ICARDA does not lead a CRP.

1.3 Staffing
The Center employed 70 internationally recruited staff and 188 nationally recruited staff as at 31 December 2019 (2018 
- 77 internationally recruited staff and 174 nationally recruited staff) in 13 countries. Women represent 31% of staff in 
2019 (27% in 2018).
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Note 2 - Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These 
accounting policies have been applied consistently to all the years presented in dealing with items that are considered 
material in relation to the financial statements.  

2.1.1. Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
The accompanying financial statements and supplementary schedules of the Center were approved and authorized for 
issue by the Board of Trustees on 30 April 2020. 

2.1.2. Going concern assessment

ICARDA’s financial situation has deteriorated in recent years. It has incurred operating losses yearly since 2014 
except for 2017 that add up to USD 6.6m, including the 2019 deficit. The evolution of its revenue parallels the trend 
of the overall funding to the CGIAR with a spike in 2013-14 and a decrease since then. ICARDA has also been faced 
with unique challenges and disruptions, including the move of its headquarters and main research station and the 
redeployment of staff to multiple locations following the events in Syria in 2012. Reserves were depleted by a USD 
6.632m extraordinary expense in 2012 as a result.
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Resource mobilization and cost cutting efforts have been continuous since then. ICARDA has taken stronger action to 
remedy some of the chronic causes of the deficit since the end of 2018. An example is the reduction of services that 
ICARDA has continued to provide to its partners in accordance with its mandate even though their costs have been 
insufficiently covered by grant funding.  

ICARDA has a committed grant portfolio that goes until 2024.  USD 21m is available to spend from 2021 onward from 
current bilateral grants. A number of resource mobilization initiatives are underway. The proposal pipeline is strong. 
ICARDA is trusted by the governments and partners it works with, as shown in Note 26 which details the in-kind support 
received from governments. The ongoing reprioritization of research delivery is expected to make the organization 
more fit for purpose, and therefore more attractive to donors and partners. ICARDA Board members, management and 
research leaders are actively involved in the activities linked to the extensive and fast-paced reform of the CGIAR (The 
“One CGIAR” initiative) which is co-led by funders of the CGIAR and the CGIAR centers. ICARDA has not experienced 
any unusual difficulty in collecting receivables or meetings its short-term or long-term liabilities. Consequently, 
Management is confident that the Center will have sufficient funds to continue to meet its liabilities as they fall due for 
at least 12 months from the date of the approval of the financial statements and have prepared the financial statements 
on a going concern basis.

2.1.3. Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for the following: Defined benefit - 
Actuarially valued and obligation recognized at fair value of plan assets less the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation. 

2.1.4. Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates 
are revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the financial statements is included in the notes on Accounting for non-monetary government 
grants, measurement of employee obligations, provisions and contingencies. 

2.1.5. Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in US Dollar (USD), which is the Center’s functional currency. All financial 
information presented in USD has been rounded to the nearest thousand.

2.1.6. Rounding

Differences between amounts presented in the financial statements and corresponding amounts in the notes result from 
rounding.

2.2 Changes in significant accounting policies
The Center initially applied IFRS 16 Leases from 1 January 2019. Other new standards are also effective from 1 
January 2019 but do not have any bearing on the Center’s financial statements. The Center applied IFRS 16 using the 
modified retrospective approach where right of use is equal to the lease liability as at the adoption date. Therefore, 
there is no cumulative effect of adopting IFRS 16 as an adjustment to the opening balance of net assets at 1 January 
2019. Accordingly, the comparative information presented for 2018 is not restated - i.e. it is presented, as previously 
reported, under IAS 17 and related interpretations. The details of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed 
in section 2.3. Additionally, the disclosure requirements in IFRS 16 have not generally been applied to comparative 
information.
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2.2.1. Definition of a lease
Previously, the Center determined at contract inception whether an arrangement was or contained a lease under IFRIC 
4-Determining Whether an Arrangement contains a Lease. The Center now assesses whether a contract is or contains a 
lease based on the new definition of a lease as per IFRS 16 : A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

On transition to IFRS 16, the Center elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of which 
transactions are leases. The Center applied IFRS 16 only to contracts that were previously identified as leases. Contracts 
that were not identified as leases under lAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a lease 
under IFRS 16 has been applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.

2.2.2. As a lessee

As a lessee, the Center leases offices and a guesthouse. The Center previously classified leases as operating or finance 
leases based on its assessment of whether the lease transferred significantly all of the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the underlying asset to the Center. Under IFRS 16, the Center recognizes right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities for leases. 

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Center allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone price. However, for leases 
of property the Center has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease and associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

Previously, the Center classified property leases as operating leases under IAS 17. On transition, for these leases, lease 
liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the Center’s incremental 
borrowing rate as at 1 January 2019 as indicated in Note 2.2 (c). Right-of-use assets may be measured in two ways. The 
Center has chosen to value them by using an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any period 
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or accrued lease payment. The Center has tested its right-of-use assets for impairment on the date of transition and has 
concluded that there is no indication that the right-of-use assets are impaired.

The Center used a number of practical expedients when applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified as operating 
leases under IAS 17. In particular, the Center:

 � did not recognize right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months of the 
date of initial application;

 � did not recognize right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases of low value assets; 
 � excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application; and
 � used hindsight when determining the lease term.

2.2.3. Impact on financial statements
On transition to IFRS 16, the Center recognized additional right-of-use assets and additional lease liabilities.  When 
measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classified as operating leases, the Center discounted lease payments using 
a rate of 5.50%. The difference between the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities balances is accounted for as a profit 
or loss at that time.

In USD             1 January 2019
Right-of-use assets 455,123
Lease liabilities              (437,239)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

2.3.1 Revenue recognition

Grants

Grants are recognized as revenue upon the substantial fulfillment of the conditions attached to them or when the donor 
has explicitly waived the conditions.  Grants are classified according to the type of restrictions attached to them.

 � Unrestricted grants are grants received which the Center may freely use for its mandated activities and are 
recognized in full in the period specified by the donor.

 � Restricted grants are grants received in support of specified projects or activities mutually agreed upon between the 
Center and donors. Revenue is recognized to the extent of expenses actually incurred. The excess of grants received 
over expenses, representing grants available to future periods, are shown as “Deferred income from donors” account 
in the statements of financial position. Project expenses incurred but not yet paid for by donors are shown as 
“Accounts receivable - donors” in the statement of financial position. Restricted grants include both permanent and 
temporary restrictions.

Permanent restriction
This refers to donor-imposed restrictions that stipulate that assets (resources) be maintained permanently but 
permits the Center to expend part or all of the income (or other economic benefits) derived from the donated 
assets.

Temporary restriction
This refers to donor-imposed restrictions that permit the Center to expend the grants as specified and are satisfied 
either by the passage of time or by actions of the Center. Grants in kind are recorded at the fair value of the assets or 
services received, while cash grants are recorded at the US dollar equivalent.

Interest income

Interest income is recognized as earned.  A proportionate share in interest income attributable to employee savings 
scheme funds are credited to individual employee’s accounts as appropriate.

25



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018/19

Finance income

Finance income consists of interest income and net gains on exchange rate differences.

Other income

Other income is recognized when earned.  

2.3.2 Expense recognition
Expenses are recognized when a decrease in future economic benefit related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in 
a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably. Expenses are recognized on the basis of a direct association between 
the costs incurred and the earning of specific items of revenue. In the case of restricted grants, this implies that expenses 
are recognized when the underlying delivery agreed with a donor is completed. The Center presents on the face of the 
statements of activities an analysis of expenses using a classification based on the function and expenses by natural 
classification.

 � Research expenses are expenses incurred for the activities that result in goods and services being distributed 
to beneficiaries, project partners, and other stakeholders that fulfill the purpose of mission for which the Center 
exists.

 � General and Administration expenses are all net expenses incurred for the activities of the Center other than 
Research expenses.

 � Collaborators/Partnership costs arise from the collaborative research undertaken by the Center and payments for 
direct research inputs made to collaborators and partners.

Finance expense

Finance expenses consist of net gains or losses on exchange rate differences.

2.3.3 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash includes cash on hand and in banks. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are both (a) 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and (b) so near maturity date that they present insignificant risk of changes 
in value.  

2.3.4 Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are claims held against others for future receipt of money, goods or services and are carried at gross 
amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. Allowance for doubtful accounts is provided in an amount equal 
to the total receivables shown or reasonably estimated to be doubtful of collection. The amount of the allowance is 
based on past experience and on a continuous review of receivable aging reports and other relevant factors.  

When an accounts receivable is deemed doubtful of collection, the Center provides an allowance for doubtful debt 
during the year in which it is deemed doubtful. Any receivable or a portion thereof adjudged to be uncollectible is written 
off.  The write-off is done after all efforts to collect have been exhausted.

 � Donors: Accounts receivable from donors consist of grants which are due and receivable by a Center. It also pertains 
to claims from donors for grant expenses paid by the center in excess of cash received.

 � Employees: Accounts receivable from employees consist of advances made to officers and employees for travel, 
benefits, salary, loans, etc.

 � Other CGIAR Centers: This includes advances made to other CGIAR Centers. 
 � Others: Accounts receivable from others consist of advance payments to suppliers, consultants and other third parties.

2.3.5 Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less depreciation. Expenditures on items with a minimum cost of US$3,000 or 
equivalent and with an estimated economic life greater than one year are capitalized. The cost of an item of property and 
equipment comprises its purchase price and all other incidental costs in bringing the asset to its working condition for its 
intended use.
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Depreciation of assets owned by the Center is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life 
of the related asset. Depreciation is charged from the month an asset was placed in operation and is continued until the 
asset has been fully depreciated or its use is discontinued.

Asset Expected useful life (in years)

Building 25

Plant and Equipment 10

Computers and Software 5 - 10
Motor Vehicle 5 - 10
Leasehold Improvements 5 - 10

An impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognized in the statement of Financial Position after deducting any 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses thereon.

Property, plant and equipment acquired through the use of grants restricted for a certain project are recorded as assets. 
Such assets are depreciated over the shorter of asset’s useful life or the duration of the grant.

2.3.6 Intangible assets

An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance. Intangible assets are recognized 
if, and only if it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the 
Center and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. An intangible asset is measured initially at cost. The cost of an 
intangible asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable cost of preparing the asset for its intended use.  
Amortization is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful life of the related asset. 

Intangible asset Expected useful life (in years)

Software 5

The carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognized in the statement of Financial Position after deducting 
any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses thereon. Intangible assets acquired through the use 
of grants restricted for a certain project are recorded as assets. Such assets are amortized over the shorter of asset’s 
useful life or the duration of the grant.

2.3.7 Accounts Payable

Account Payable represents amounts due to donors, employees and others for support, services and materials received 
prior to year-end, but not paid for as at the date of Statement of financial position.

 � Deferred income from donors: This consists of grants received from donors for which conditions are not yet met and 
amounts payable to donors in respect to any unexpended funds received in advance for restricted grants.

 � Employees: This includes unpaid salaries and bonuses, leave credits and pension entitlements.
 � Others: These include all other liabilities the center has incurred and has been billed for, which remain unpaid as at 

the date of the Statement of Financial Position.

2.3.8 Other accounts payable and accruals

Other accounts payable and accruals represent obligations of the Center arising from past events, the settlement 
of which is expected to result in an outflow from the Center of resources embodying economic benefits. A liability 
is classified as a current liability when it is (a) expected to be settled within the normal course of the Center’s 
operating cycle; or (b) due to be settled within 12 months of the balance date.  All other liabilities are classified as 
non-current.
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2.3.9 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Center has: (a) a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 
(b) it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and (c) a reliable estimate of the 
amount can be made of the amount of obligation.  Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best 
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at each balance sheet date. When there are a number of 
similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in the settlement is determined by considering the class 
of obligations taken as a whole.  A provision is recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one 
item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

2.3.10 Funds in trust

Funds in trust consist of funds entrusted to the Center by another entity under certain contractual terms and conditions 
agreed upon by both parties.

2.3.11 Leases

The Center has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the comparative information 
and not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The details of accounting policies under 
IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 are disclosed separately. 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

At inception of a contract, the Center assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a 
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period in exchange for consideration. 
To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Center uses the definition of 
a lease in IFRS 16. This policy is applied to contracts entered into, on or after 1 January 2019. 

The Center recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is 
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made 
at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and 
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remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives 
received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the 
end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Center by the end of the lease 
term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Center will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-
of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as 
those of property or equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, 
and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Center ‘s 
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Center uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Center determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external financing sources 
and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased.

The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a 
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Center ‘s estimate of 
the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Center changes its assessment of whether it 
will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment. 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to 
zero.

The Center has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets (less 
than USD 5,000) and short-term leases. The Center recognizes the lease payments associated with these leases as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Policy applicable before 1 January 2019

For contracts entered into before 1 January 2019, the Center determined whether the arrangement was or contained a 
lease based on the assessment of whether:

 � fulfilment of the arrangement was dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets; and
 � the arrangement had conveyed a right to use the asset. 

In the comparative period, as a lessee the Center classified leases that transferred substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership as finance leases. Assets held under other leases were classified as operating leases and were not 
recognised in the Center’s statement of financial position. 

2.3.12 Government grants

Non-monetary grants, such as lands, research stations and offices are usually accounted for at fair value, although 
recording both the asset and the grant at a nominal amount is also permitted. The Center opted to account for these 
non-monetary grants at nominal amount. Note 26 provides the details of those contributions from governments that are 
essential to ICARDA’s ability to conduct research. 

2.3.13 Foreign currency transactions and translations
Foreign currency denominated transactions are translated to US dollars for reporting purposes at standard bookkeeping 
rates which approximate the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, 
foreign currency monetary items are reported at closing rates; non-monetary items denominated in foreign currency 
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which are carried at historical cost are reported at historical rates and those that are carried at fair values are reported at 
rates on valuation date.  

2.3.14 Employee benefits

Post-employment benefits:

 � Defined contribution plans
Eligible employees of the Center receive benefits from a provident fund, which is a defined contribution plan. Both 
the employee and the Center make monthly contributions to the provident fund equal to a specified percentage of 
the covered employee’s salary and the employer contribution is charged to statement of activity.

With respect to the benefits for internationally recruited staff, the Center’s obligation is met by the 
contribution of the agreed amounts to the Association of International Agricultural Research Centers (AIARC), 
an autonomous body which provides payroll management services and pension fund management to ICARDA 
and other CGIAR Centers. Benefits are paid directly to the concerned employee by AIARC. The Center has no 
further obligation to the plan beyond its monthly contributions to the fund managed by AIARC, Obligations 
for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related services are provided. Prepaid 
contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is 
available. 

 � Defined benefit plans

Repatriation
The Center’s present obligation in respect of relocation expenses computed based on the estimated cost of 
relocating internationally recruited staff and their families to their base location, as specified in their appointment 
letter. This is made up of travel costs and a fixed lump sum for shipping personal effects.

Leave encashment

The employees of the Center are entitled to leave encashment. The employees can carry forward a portion of 
the unutilized accumulating compensated absences and utilize it in future periods or receive cash at retirement 
or termination of employment. The Center records an obligation for compensated absences in the period in 
which the employee renders the services that increases this entitlement. The Center measures the expected 
cost of compensated absences as the additional amount that the Center expects to pay as a result of the unused 
entitlement that has accumulated at the end of the reporting period. 

2.3.15 Recovery of indirect costs

The definition of Indirect Costs at ICARDA follows the CGIAR Cost Principles and Indirect Cost Guidelines issued in April 
2019. ICARDA, as other CGIAR Centers, uses full cost accounting. Costs are classified as direct or indirect. Indirect costs 
are general management and administrative expenses that support the entire operations of a Center, are shared across 
the project portfolio and cannot be directly allocated to an individual project in an economically feasible manner. These 
costs are usually recovered by charging a fixed percentage on direct project expenses.   This “indirect cost rate” is a fair and 
convenient way to indicate in a consistent and equitable manner what proportion of indirect costs each project or research 
activity should bear. Recovery of indirect costs is determined by provisions set out in donor agreements. Any difference 
between indirect costs as per full cost accounting and indirect cost recovery is funded by unrestricted resources.

2.3.16 Net assets

Net assets consist of undesignated and designated net assets. Undesignated net assets pertain to the accumulated 
balance of the surplus/shortfall from unrestricted activities net of amount transferred to designated net assets. 
Designated net assets pertain to funds specifically designated by the Board of Trustees for a specific purpose.
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2.3.17 Financial instruments

 � Recognition and initial measurement
Accounts receivables are initially recognized when they are originated. All other financial assets and financial 
liabilities are initially recognized when the Center becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
An account receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

 � Derecognition

Financial assets

The Center derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Center neither transfers nor 
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the financial asset.

Financial liabilities
The Center derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire. The 
Center also derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are 
substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognized at fair value. On 
derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration 
paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognized in profit or loss.
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 � Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Center currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it 
intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

 � Impairment 

Financial instruments and contract assets

The Center recognizes loss allowances for estimated credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured at amortized 
cost. The Center measures loss allowances for its accounts receivable, cash at banks and funds in trust at an amount 
equal to 12-month ECL as the Center considers these to have low credit risk and their credit risk has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and 
when estimating ECLs, the Center considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available 
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on 
the Center’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information. The 
Center assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Center considers a financial asset to be in default when:
 � the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Center in full, without recourse by the Center to 

actions such as realizing security (if any is held); or
 � the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after 
the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months). The maximum 
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period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Center is exposed to 
credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash 
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash 
flows that the Center expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Center assesses whether the financial asset carried at amortized cost is credit impaired. 
A financial asset is “credit-impaired” when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the 
following observable data:

2.3. significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
2.4. a breach of contract such as a default; 
2.5. the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Center on terms that the Center would not consider   
 otherwise; 
2.6. it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;
2.7. or, the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties; 

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position 
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortized cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the 
assets. 

Write-off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Center has no reasonable expectations of 
recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. 

Financial assets not classified at fair value through profit or loss are assessed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is objective evidence of impairment.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes: 
 � default or delinquency by a debtor; 
 � restructuring of an amount due to the Center on terms that the Center would not consider otherwise;
 � indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy; 
 � adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers; 
 � the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties; or 
 � observable data indicating that there is measurable decrease in expected cash flows from a group of financial 

assets.  

Note 3 - Cash and Cash Equivalents

ICARDA’s cash management practices aim to minimize banking and foreign exchange risk and to optimize the level of 
cash available at headquarters level, ensuring that country offices have sufficient cash balances to cater to short term 
operational needs. The bank balance available at the time ICARDA ended its operations in Iran in 2018 is fully provisioned. 
Local currency balances held in India and Syria (USD 1.5m and USD 0.660m respectively) correspond to available balances 
on local currency grants. A total ban on transfers to or from Syria has been in effect since 2012.  At the end of 2019, cash 
balances held in bank accounts in Lebanon represent less than 3% of the overall total cash balance.
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In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Personal Account  150  195 

 150  195 

Less: Allowance for Bad Debts  (19)  (55)
 131  140 

In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18

AIARC  1,895  9 

System Management Office  -  294 
Advances to Collaborators  743  662 

Insurance  -  - 
Others  195  442 

 2,833  1,407 

Note 4 - Accounts Receivable - Donors

Note 5 - Accounts Receivable - Employees

In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Cash on hand and in bank  8,450  10,181 

Cash equivalents  138  636 
 8,588  10,817 

Less: Allowance for asset impairment  (122)  (119)
 8,466  10,698 

In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Unrestricted W3  50  39 
Restricted W3  374  147 
Restricted Bilateral  7,706  5,838 
W1 & W2 (Including CRP)  1,486  1,967 

 9,616  7,991 

Less: Allowance for Bad Debts  (703)  (1,063)
 8,913  6,928 

The movements in allowance for bad debts during the year are:
In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Balance at beginning of period  (1,063)  (101)
Provision  -  (962)
Write-off / Write-back  360  - 

 (703)  (1,063)

Note 6 - Accounts Receivable – Others, net
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In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Funds in Trust  398  502 

 398  502 

Less: Allowance for Bad Debts  (130)  - 
 268  502 

In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Advances to suppliers  243  166 

 243  166 

Note 7 – Accounts Receivable Funds in Trust

Note 8 - Advances and Prepayments

Note 9 - Property and Equipment

Details of property and equipment at 31 December 2019:
In U.S. Dollars Thousands Unrestricted Restricted Total
Cost
Balance, 01 Jan  12,922  22,707  35,629 
Additions  -  740  740 
Adjustments  (47)  (2,442)  (2,489)
Balance, 31 Dec  12,875  21,005  33,880 
Accumulated depreciation
Balance, 01 Jan  12,231  21,712  33,943 
Charges  117  560  677 

IFRS Depreciation changes  -  371  371 
Adjustments  (47)  (2,430)  (2,477)
Balance, 31 Dec  12,301  20,213  32,514 
Net book value  574  792  1,366 

Details of property and equipment at 31 December 2018:
In U.S. Dollars Thousands Unrestricted Restricted Total
Cost
Balance, 01 Jan  12,926  22,457  35,383 
Additions  2  505  507 

Adjustments  (6)  (255)  (261)
Balance, 31 Dec  12,922  22,707  35,629 
Accumulated depreciation
Balance, 01 Jan  12,025  20,840  32,865 
Charges  211  70  281 

IFRS Adoption Depreciation Adjustment  -  1,057  1,057 

Adjustments  (5)  (255)  (260)
Balance, 31 Dec  12,231  21,712  33,943 
Net book value  691  995  1,686 
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In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Cost
Balance at beginning of period  1,578  1,578 

Additions  77  - 
Balance at end of period  1,655  1,578 

Accumulated amortization
Balance at beginning of period  1,061  740 
Charges  331  321 
Balance at end of period  1,392  1,061 

Net book value  263  517 

In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Cost
Balance at beginning of period  455  - 
Additions  -  - 
Balance at end of period  455  - 
Accumulated amortization
Balance at beginning of period  -  - 
Charges  166  - 
Balance at end of period  166  - 
Net book value  289  - 

In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Unrestricted W3
Restricted W3  1,033  1,668 

Restricted Bilateral  3,578  2,905 

W1 & W2 (Including CRP)  314  - 
 4,925  4,573 

In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Personal account  765  762 

 765  762 

Note 10 - Intangible Assets

Note 11 – Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets refer to offices in Afghanistan, Egypt, India, Syria and Uzbekistan and a guest house in Afghanistan.

Note 12 - Deferred Income from Donors

Note 13 - Accounts Payable – Employees
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Note 14 - Accruals

Note 15 - Accounts Payable – Others

Note 16 – Lease Liabilities

Lease Liabilities refer to right-of-use assets.

Note 17 – Provisions

In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Suppliers  1,340  1,448 
System Management Office  329  269 

Others  246  378 
Collaborators  89  178 

 2,004  2,273 

In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Accrued expenses  1,269  1,022 

 1,269  1,022 

In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Balance at beginning of period  437  - 
Lease payments  (182)  - 
Finance charges  20  - 
Balance at end of period  275  - 

Lease liabilities consist of:
In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Current lease liabilities  160  - 
Non Current lease liabilities  115  - 
Net book value  275  - 

In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Staff Provisions (a)  4,238  3,113 
Operational expenses provision (b)  83  229 

 4,321  3,342 

(a)  Staff Provisions

Provisions consist of:
In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Non-Current portion of employee accrued benefits  2,992  2,864 
Merit, Inflation and staff development  808  - 
Taxes payable - employees  438  249 

 4,238  3,113 
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Note 18 - Accounts Payable - Funds in Trust

Accrued staff benefits consist of:
In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Vacation  660  737 
End of service indemnity  895  792 

Repatriation provision  423  506 

Pension scheme  1,014  829 

 2,992  2,864 

(b)  Operational expenses provision

In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Review of Administrative and Operational activities in outreach offices  79  79 

Legal cases  4  150 

 83  229 

Note 19 - Other Revenue and Gains

In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Funds in Trust  3,514  3,305 

 3,514  3,305 

In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Write-back of provisions and other unclaimed balances  71  188 

Farm and livestock produce  45  3 
Service and hosting fees  292  269 

 408  460 

Note 20 - Designated Funds; Designations and Releases

The Board of Trustees designates net assets from time to time for specific purposes.  These designations are maintained 
until the intended project/activity for which the designation was made are completed or the Board considers it no longer 
necessary, at which time the designations are released.

Designated funds at 31 December 2018 consist of:
 � Reserve - investment in property and equipment - intended to finance the acquisition of property and equipment 

which support the Center in the conduct of its agricultural research activities;
 � Reserve for replacement of property and equipment - amounts set aside for needed upgrades, replacement and/or 

expansion of property and equipment in support of the Center’s operations.

The Board has decided to modify the designation of net assets and designated funds at 31 December 2019 consist of:
 � Reserve - investment in property and equipment;
 � IFRS Adoption Reserve - net remaining balance on the impact on net assets of the transition to IFRS;
 � Special reserve- amount set aside by the Board to make strategic investments and/or mitigate certain types of risks.
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Note 21 - Employee benefits expense

In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Salaries and wages  7,889  8,434 
Retirement benefits costs  1,063  1,149 
Other personnel costs  2,606  2,734 

 11,558  12,317 

In U.S. Dollars Thousands 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Salaries and other short-term employment benefits  986  1,167 

Post-employment benefits  -  - 
Honorarium  36  35 

 1,022  1,202 

Note 22- Key management computation

Note 23 – Contingent Liabilities

There are no contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date.

Note 24 - Subsequent Events

Following the onset of the Coronavirus on 11 March 2020, COVID-19 has been declared a pandemic by the World 
Health Organization, and most governments of the countries where ICARDA works have taken restrictive measures to 
contain its further spread affecting free movement of people and goods. 

The coronavirus outbreak has brought about substantial uncertainties in the Center’s funding and operating environment 
since early 2020 and more particularly since it was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization on March 
11, 2020. The Center is in dialogue with Donors. It has been closely monitoring the impact of the developments on its 
operations and has put in place contingency measures. These contingency measures include minimizing commitments, 
reducing costs whenever possible, accelerating the collection of receivables and minimizing foreign exchange risks and 
banking risks. As the situation is fast evolving, the effect of the outbreak is subject to significant levels of uncertainty, 
with the full range of possible effects unknown.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, ICARDA has been able to continue delivering against its 
commitments to donors, with the exception of training activities which have been postponed until the end of 2020. 
International travel has been stopped altogether.  Procurement has slowed down. These events, which occurred 
subsequent to the balance sheet date, together are material without requiring any adjustments in these financial 
statements. While no material effects on the Center’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows have yet 
been identified at the date of these financial statements, management will continue monitoring and evaluating them 
during the 2020 financial year.
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in U.S. Dollars Thousands 2019 2018

Cash and cash equivalents 8,391 10,587 

Accounts receivable 11,877 8,475 
Funds in Trust 268 502 

Total  20,536  19,564 

Note 25 – Financial Instruments

25.1 Financial risk Management

Overview 
The Center has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

 � Credit risk
 � Liquidity risk, and
 � Market risk, including currency risk.

This note presents information about the Center’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Center’s objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Center’s management of funds. 

Risk management framework
The Center’s Board of Trustees has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Center’s risk 
management framework.

 � Credit Risk - the risk of financial loss to the Center if a party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations and arises principally from the Center’s donor receivables.

Exposure to credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of cash and cash equivalents and doubtful accounts 
receivable during the year was as follows:

in U.S. Dollars Thousands 2019 2018

Balance at beginning of period (119) - 
Impairement losses on cash and cash equivalents (3) (119)
Balance at end of period (122) (119)

Balance at beginning of period (1,063) (101)
Impairement losses on accounts receivable (962)
Impaired accounts receivable written-off 360 
Balance at end of period (703) (1,063)
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(a)  Liquidity risk year 2019

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

1 year or less More than 1 
year

in U.S. Dollars Thousands

Accounts payables  4,038  (4,038)  (4,038)  - 
Funds in trust (liability)  3,514  (3,514)  (3,514)  - 

Total  7,552  (7,552)  (7,552)  - 

(b)  Liquidity risk year 2018

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

1 year or less More than 1 
year

in U.S. Dollars Thousands

Accounts payables  4,057  (4,057)  (4,057)  - 
Funds in trust (liability)  3,305  (3,305)  (3,305)  - 

Total  7,362  (7,362)  (7,362)  - 

 � Liquidity risk - the risk that the Center will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Center’s approach to managing liquidity 
is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both 
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Center’s reputation. 
The Center aims to limit its liquidity risk with respect to debtors by monitoring outstanding receivables.

The following are the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period of financial liabilities:

 � Market risk - the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the 
Center’s income or the value of the holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to 
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return.

Currency risk

The Center is exposed to currency risks on grants and contracts for purchases of goods or services that are 
denominated in a currency other than the Center’s functional currency. The currency in which those transactions 
are primarily denominated in US Dollars. No hedging is in place at the date of the financial statements to mitigate 
foreign exchange risk resulting from other currencies. 

Exposure to currency risk

The summary quantitative data about the Center’s exposure to currency risk is as follows:
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Currency and Interest rate risk year 2019

31 December 2019
USD EGP INR LBP MAD Other 

currencies
Total

in U.S. Dollars Thousands

Current Assets 

     Cash and cash equivalents   3  4,225  53  1,577  13  90  2,508  8,466 
     Accounts Receivables: 
          Donors  4  8,913  -  -  -  -  -  8,913 
          Employees  5  83  18  6  5  19  131 
          Others, net  6  2,521  63  173  6  32  38  2,833 
     Funds in Trust  7  268  -  -  -  -  -  268 

     Advances and prepayments  8  237  3  -  -  1  2  243 

Current liabilities 
     Account payables:

          Deferred income from donors  12  (4,925)  -  -  -  -  -  (4,925)
          Employees  13  (574)  (48)  (2)  (27)  (44)  (70)  (765)
          Accruals  14  (1,269)  -  -  -  -  -  (1,269)
          Others  15  (828)  (57)  (112)  (52)  (841)  (114)  (2,004)
     Lease Liabilities  16  (160)  (160)
     Provisions  17  (891)  (24)  -  (8)  (380)  (26)  (1,329)
     Funds in Trust  18  (3,514)  -  -  -  -  -  (3,514)

Net statement of financial 
position exposure 

 4,086  8  1,636  (62)  (1,137)  2,357  6,888 
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31 December 2019
USD EGP INR LBP MAD Other 

currencies
Total

     Cash and cash equivalents   3  4,225  53  13  8,466 
     Accounts Receivables: 

 4  8,913  -  -  -  -  -  8,913 
 83  131 

 63  173  32  38  2,833 
     Funds in Trust  -  -  -  -  - 
     Advances and prepayments  237  3  -  -  243 

Current liabilities 
     Account payables:

 (4,925)  -  -  -  -  -  (4,925)
 13  (574)  (48)  (2)  (27)  (44)  (70)  (765)
 14  (1,269)  -  -  -  -  -  (1,269)

 (828)  (57)  (112)  (52)  (841)  (114)  (2,004)
     Lease Liabilities  (160)  (160)
     Provisions  (891)  (24)  -  (8)  (380)  (26)  (1,329)
     Funds in Trust  (3,514)  -  -  -  -  -  (3,514)

Net statement of financial 
position exposure 

 4,086  1,636  (62)  (1,137)  2,357 

Average rate Spot rate
2019 2018 2019 2018

EGP  0.060  0.056   0.063  0.056 
INR  0.014  0.015   0.014  0.014 
LBP  0.001  0.001   0.001  0.001 
MAD  0.107  0.110   0.108  0.110 

Currency and Interest rate risk year 2018

31 December 2019
USD EGP INR LBP MAD Other 

currencies
Total

in U.S. Dollars Thousands

Current Assets 

     Cash and cash equivalents   3  4,634  275  817  133  109  4,730  10,698 

     Accounts Receivables: 
          Donors  4  6,928  -  -  -  -  -  6,928 

          Employees  5  21  10  2  2  105  140 
          Others, net  6  920  38  369  -  -  80  1,407 
     Funds in Trust  7  502  -  -  -  -  -  502 

     Advances and prepayments  8  105  33  -  -  28  -  166 

Current liabilities 
     Account payables:
          Deferred income from donors  12  (4,573)  -  -  -  -  -  (4,573)
          Employees  13  (650)  (5)  (4)  (34)  (69)  (762)
          Accruals  14  (1,022)  -  -  -  -  -  (1,022)
          Others  15  (1,221)  (59)  (9)  (75)  (785)  (124)  (2,273)
     Provisions  17  (229)  (12)  (21)  (8)  (189)  (19)  (478)
     Funds in Trust  18  (3,305)  -  -  -  -  -  (3,305)

Sensitivity analysis
The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

A 10 percent strengthening (weakening) of the US Dollar against the above currencies at 31 December would 
have the measurement of financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency and increased (decreased) the 
statement of activities and other comprehensive income by the amount shown below. This analysis assumes that 
all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for the 
previous year, although the reasonable possible foreign exchange rate variances were different.
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Interest rate risk

The Center is not subject to significant interest rate risk. Prevailing market interest rates are applied on all relevant 
bank accounts. 

25.2 Fair values

As at period end, the fair value of the Center’s financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying account. 

Note 26 – Government Grants

Several governments have generously given ICARDA the use of facilities for many years. No change has occurred in 
2019. Those facilities are listed as non-monetary assets and detailed in the table below.  ICARDA has chosen to record 
those assets and the associated donation at a negligible nominal value.

Profit or (loss) 
2019 2018

EGP  (1)  (28)
INR  (164)  (116)
LBP  6  (5)
MAD  114  87 

Others  (236)  (470)

a. The Ministry of National Food Security and Research at the Government of Pakistan has granted ICARDA facilities 
to execute research and scientific activities. The agreement was signed on the 8th of November 2004 and is valid for 
a renewable period of 3 years.

b. The Government of Dubai has granted ICARDA facilities including offices, laboratories and land for collaborative 
research activities. The agreement was signed on the 22nd of February 2003. The term was not specified in the 
agreement. 

c. The Turkish Government has granted ICARDA facilities including offices, laboratories and land for collaborative 
research activities. The agreement was signed on the 25th of March 2011. The term was not specified in the 
agreement.

Reference Country Region Station Name
a Pakistan Islamabad PARC, Islamabad
b UAE Dubai ICARDA - APRP
c Turkey Ankara Head Office
d Lebanon Terbol Terbol Station
e Oman Oman Oman Office 
f India Amlaha Food Legume Research Platform (FLRP), Amlaha
g India Newdelhi ICARDA Office - India
h Morocco Rabat Rabat Office
i Morocco Marshoush Marshoush station
j Syria Aleppo Tel Hadya farm
k Syria Aleppo Breda
l Sudan Khartoum Khartoum
m Sudan Khartoum Gezira Farm and El-Rahad Research Station

44



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018/19

d. The Lebanese Agricultural Research Institute (LARI) has granted ICARDA Terbol and Kfardan stations for 
collaborative research activities. The agreement was signed on the 10th of October 2014 for a renewable period of 
10 years.

e. The Ministry of Climate Change and Environment of Oman has granted ICARDA office space to conduct its research 
activities. There is no signed agreement.

f. The Government of India has granted ICARDA an agricultural farm and land to conduct its research activities. The 
agreement was signed on the 9th of June 2014 for a period of 30 years.

g. The Government of India has granted ICARDA an office to conduct its research activities. The agreement was signed 
on the 10th of September 2007 for a period of 30 years.

h. The Ministry of Agriculture and Marine Fishery representing the Kingdom of Morocco through INRA has granted 
ICARDA facilities including offices, laboratories and land for collaborative research activities.

i. The agreement was signed on the 25th of April 2014 for a renewable period of 10 years.
j. The Government of Syria has granted ICARDA an office, laboratory, stores, and Experimental fields at Tel Hadya farm 

for 99 years, starting 1977.
k. The Government of Syria has granted ICARDA an Experimental field at Breda station for 99 years, starting 2006.
l. The Government of Sudan has granted ICARDA an office to conduct its research activities. The agreement was 

signed on the 19th of April 2005. The term was not specified in the agreement.
m. The Sudan Agriculture Research Corporation (ARC) representing the Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation has 

granted ICARDA agricultural land for research activities. The term of the agreement covers a six-year period from 
2014-2015 to 2019-2020.
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Funds 
available 

US$’000

Receivables 
from donors 

US$’000

Deferred 
revenue 

US$’000

Grants revenue 

US$’000
2019 2018 

A. Unrestricted
W3 - Unrestricted
China  -  50  -  50  39 
Subtotal Window 3 - Unrestricted  -  50  -  50  39 
Bilateral- Unrestricted 
Syria  -  -  -  -  345 
Subtotal Bilateral - Unrestricted  -  -  -  -  345 
Total-Unrestricted  -  50  -  50  384 

B. Restricted
Windows 1 & 2

CIAT-International Center for 
Tropical Agriculture 

 89  21  -  110  236 

CIMMYT-International Maize and 
Wheat Improvement Centerc 

 2,328  461  -  2,789  2,768 

GCDT-Global Crop Diversity Trust  1,437  -  (314)  1,123  1,760 

ICRISAT-International Crops 
Research Institute for the Semi-Arid 
Tropics 

 603  110  -  713  714 

IFPRI-International Food Policy 
Research Institute 

 195  43  -  238  219 

ILRI-International Livestock 
Research Institute 

 1,450  843  -  2,293  1,642 

IWMI-International Water 
Management Institute 

 70  8  -  78  78 

Subtotal-Windows 1 & 2  6,172  1,486  (314)  7,344  7,417 

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 1 - Schedule of Grant Revenue 
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Funds 
available 

US$’000

Receivables 
from donors 

US$’000

Deferred 
revenue 

US$’000

Grants revenue 

US$’000
2019 2018 

Window 3

ADA-Austrian Development Agency  135  -  -  135  187 

Australia-ACIAR-Australian 
Centre for International Agricultural 
Research 

 -  -  -  -  818 

BMGF-Bill & Melinda Gates 
Foundation 

 -  -  -  -  538 

China  254  -  (85)  169  71 

IFAD-International Fund for 
Agricultural Development 

 1,141  374  -  1,516  1,670 

India  1,529  -  (500)  1,030  809 

Iran  7  -  (7)  -  741 
Morocco-INRA-Institut National de 
la Recherche Agronomique/
National Institute for Agronomic 
Research 

 298  -  (172)  124  34 

Sudan-Ministry of Agriculture and 
Forestry 

 114  -  (21)  93  141 

Turkey  440  -  (248)  192  220 

USAID-United States Agency for 
International Development 

 -  -  -  -  1,299 

Subtotal-Window 3  3,918  374  (1,033)  3,259  6,528 

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (cont.)

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 1 - Schedule of Grant Revenue (cont.) 
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Funds 
available 

US$’000

Receivables 
from donors 

US$’000

Deferred 
revenue 

US$’000

Grants revenue 

US$’000
2019 2018 

Bilateral

AfDB-African Development Bank  (252)  1,036  -  784  515 

AFESD-Arab Fund for Economic 
and Social Development 

 3,361  651  (899)  3,113  5,059 

Afghanistan-Ministry of Agriculture, 
Irrigation, and Livestock (MAIL) 

 514  316  -  830  785 

Australia  264  97  -  361  756 

Brazil-EMBRAPA-Empresa 
Brasileira de Pesquisa Agropecuaria 

 30  -  (2)  28  141 

CARE-Cooperative for Assistance 
and Relief Everywhere, Inc. 

 (58)  69  -  11  32 

CAREC-Regional Environmental 
Center for Central Asia 

 -  227  -  227  - 

Caritas Jordan  31  1  -  32  - 
Caritas Switzerland  14  2  -  15  - 
Caussade Semences Group  -  7  -  7  - 
CEVA SANTE ANIMALE S.A.  -  10  -  10  21 

Charles Sturt University  41  9  -  50  20 

Cornell University  100  70  -  170  127 

Durham University (UK)  -  -  -  -  31 
EC-European Commission  1,401  240  (593)  1,048  1,006 

Egypt-Agricultural Research Center  505  -  (328)  177  125 

Ethiopia Federal Ministry of 
Agriculture 

 -  37  -  37  - 

FAO-Food and Agriculture 
Organization 

 740  269  (151)  858  355 

GCC-Gulf Cooperation Council  (341)  470  -  129  495 
GCDT-Global Crop Diversity Trust  865  1,605  (354)  2,116  1,243 
GCF-Green Climate Fund  -  -   -  -  28 

Germany  208  1,449  (7)  1,650  1,466 
ICBA-International Center For 
Biosaline Agriculture 

 (14)  14  -  -  10 

IHE Delft Institute for Water 
Education 

 -  20  -  20  - 

ILO-International Labour 
Organization 

 108  128  -  236  153 

India  2,651  48  (720)  1,979  1,327 

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (cont.)

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 1 - Schedule of Grant Revenue (cont.) 
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Funds 
available 

US$’000

Receivables 
from donors 

US$’000

Deferred 
revenue 

US$’000

Grants revenue 

US$’000
2019 2018 

Iran-AREEO-Agricultural Research 
Education and Extension 
Organization 

 -  -  -  -  171 

Japan  (25)  25  -  -  50 

John Innes Centre  -  44  -  44  - 
King Abdullah University of Science 
and Technology 

 -  -  -  -  15 

Kuwait Fund for Arab Economic 
Development 

 400  -  (80)  320  243 

Libya-Agricultural Research Center  25  -  (25)  -  36 
MIT-Massachusetts Institute of 
Technology 

 172  -  (2)  170  147 

MSU-Michigan State University  -  -  -  -  137 
Nigeria-Federal Ministry of 
Agriculture and Rural Development 

 (43)  156  -  113  162 

OCP Foundation  204  -  (73)  131  191 

OFID-OPEC Fund for International 
Development 

 92  44  -  136  308 

PRIMA Foundation  16  -  (16)  -  - 
Société des Boissons du Maroc  -  64  -  64  - 
SLU-Swedish University of 
Agricultural Sciences 

 108  26  -  134  59 

Syria  500  -  (115)  385  - 
UNDP-United Nations 
Development Programme 

 301  5  (19)  287  199 

UNEP-United Nations 
Environmental Programme 

 -  54  -  55  - 

University of Saskatchewan, Canada  27  1  -  28  93 
University of Western Australia  94  -  (56)  38  - 
USDA-United States Department of 
Agriculture 

 585  57  (60)  582  941 

World Bank  24  60  -  84  45 
World Food Programme  -  -  -  -  150 

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (cont.)

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 1 - Schedule of Grant Revenue (cont.) 
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Funds 
available 

US$’000

Receivables 
from donors 

US$’000

Deferred 
revenue 

US$’000

Grants revenue 

US$’000
2019 2018 

Other CGIAR Centers - Bilateral 

CIMMYT-International Maize and 
Wheat Improvement Center 

 76  -  (51)  25  40 

ICRAF-World Agroforestry Centre  20  108  -  128  129 

ICRISAT-International Crops 
Research Institute for the Semi-Arid 
Tropics 

 (50)  50  -  -  21 

IFPRI-International Food Policy 
Research Institute 

 193  121  -  314  353 

IITA-International Institute of 
Tropical Agriculture 

 -  20  -  20  - 

ILRI-International Livestock 
Research Institute 

 66  96  -  162  166 

IWMI-International Water 
Management Institute 

 60  -  (27)  33  - 

Subtotal-Bilateral  13,013  7,706  (3,578)  17,141  17,351 
Total-Restricted  23,103  9,566  (4,925)  27,744  31,296 

Grand Total  23,103  9,616  (4,925)  27,794  31,680 

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (cont.)

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 1 - Schedule of Grant Revenue (cont.) 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018/19

2019 2018

General and Administration Expenses  3,946  4,406 
Research Expenses+Non-CGIAR Collaboration costs  24,864  28,062 

Indirect Cost Rate 15.87% 15.70%

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 4 - Indirect Cost Rate Computation 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018/19

Expenses by Natural Classification Windows 

1 & 2
Window 
3

Bilateral Center 

Funds
Total

Personnel Costs  953  51  248  -  1,252 

CGIAR Collaboration Costs  -  50  -  -  50 

Other Collaboration Costs  151  47  615  -  813 
Supplies and Services  720  77  590  -  1,387 
Operational Travel  129  14  77  -  220 

Depreciation/Amortization  30  -  5  -  35 
Cost Sharing Percentage  -  -  34  -  34 
Total Direct Costs  1,983  239  1,569  -  3,791 
Indirect Costs  310  30  184  -  524 
Total Costs  2,293  269  1,753  -  4,315 
Deferred Depreciation  (10)  -  (5)  -  (15)
Grand Total - All Costs  2,283  269  1,748  -  4,300 

Description Windows 

1 & 2
Opening Balance  (1,001)
Add: Cash Receipts from Lead Center  2,441 
Less: Disbursements  (2,283)
Closing Balance  (843)

CRP13 Livestock - Expenditure and Funding Report

CRP13 Livestock - Expenditure Report

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 5 - Schedule of CRP Expenditures and 
Funding Report as Participating Center 

CRP13 Livestock - Funding Report

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

65



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018/19

Expenses by Natural Classification Windows 

1 & 2
Window 
3

Bilateral Center 

Funds
Total

Personnel Costs  1,280  175  1,356  -  2,811 

CGIAR Collaboration Costs  -  245  -  -  245 
Other Collaboration Costs  21  147  605  -  773 
Supplies and Services  918  220  1,437  -  2,575 

Operational Travel  48  75  199  -  322 
Depreciation/Amortization  161  -  155  -  316 
Cost Sharing Percentage  -  -  83  -  83 
Total Direct Costs  2,428  862  3,835  -  7,125 

Indirect Costs  361  65  526  -  952 

Total Costs  2,789  927  4,361  -  8,077 

Deferred Depreciation  (131)  -  (58)  -  (189)
Grand Total - All Costs  2,658  927  4,303  -  7,888 

Description Windows 

1 & 2
Opening Balance  (401)
Add: Cash Receipts from Lead Center  2,566 

Less: Disbursements  (2,657)
Closing Balance  (492)

CRP17 Wheat - Expenditure and Funding Report

CRP17 Wheat  - Expenditure Report

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

CRP17 Wheat - Funding Report

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 5 - Schedule of CRP Expenditures and 
Funding Report as Participating Center (cont.)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018/19

Expenses by Natural Classification Windows 

1 & 2
Window 
3

Bilateral Center 

Funds
Total

Personnel Costs  291  333  482  -  1,106 

CGIAR Collaboration Costs  35  12  -  -  47 
Other Collaboration Costs  23  271  544  -  838 
Supplies and Services  221  560  724  -  1,505 

Operational Travel  46  91  95  -  232 
Depreciation/Amortization  -  28  26  -  54 
Cost Sharing Percentage  -  32  38  -  70 

Total Direct Costs  616  1,327  1,909  -  3,852 
Indirect Costs  97  157  253  -  507 

Total Costs  713  1,484  2,162  -  4,359 
Deferred Depreciation  -  (28)  (2)  -  (30)
Grand Total - All Costs  713  1,456  2,160  -  4,329 

Description Windows 

1 & 2
Opening Balance  (381)
Add: Cash Receipts from Lead Center  983 
Less: Disbursements  (713)
Closing Balance  (111)

CRP18 GLDC - Expenditure and Funding Report

CRP18 GLDC - Expenditure Report

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

CRP18 GLDC - Funding Report

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 5 - Schedule of CRP Expenditures and 
Funding Report as Participating Center (cont.)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018/19

Expenses by Natural Classification Windows 

1 & 2
Window 
3

Bilateral Center 

Funds
Total

Personnel Costs  34  47  413  -  494 
CGIAR Collaboration Costs  -  -  -  -  - 
Other Collaboration Costs  -  41  39  -  80 

Supplies and Services  15  22  688  -  725 

Operational Travel  3  6  61  -  70 

Depreciation/Amortization  -  5  25  -  30 
Cost Sharing Percentage  -  -  28  -  28 

Total Direct Costs  52  121  1,254  -  1,427 
Indirect Costs  8  18  152  -  178 

Total Costs  60  139  1,406  -  1,605 

Deferred Depreciation  -  (5)  6  -  1 

Grand Total - All Costs  60  134  1,412  -  1,606 

Description Windows 

1 & 2
Opening Balance  (24)
Add: Cash Receipts from Lead Center  78 

Less: Disbursements  (60)
Closing Balance  (6)

CRP22 CCAFS - Expenditure and Funding Report

CRP22 CCAFS  - Expenditure Report

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

CRP22 CCAFS - Funding Report

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 5 - Schedule of CRP Expenditures and 
Funding Report as Participating Center (cont.)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018/19

Expenses by Natural Classification Windows 

1 & 2
Window 
3

Bilateral Center 

Funds
Total

Personnel Costs  100  -  106  -  206 

CGIAR Collaboration Costs  -  -  -  -  - 
Other Collaboration Costs  -  -  3  -  3 
Supplies and Services  90  -  177  -  267 

Operational Travel  16  -  5  -  21 

Depreciation/Amortization  -  -  -  -  - 
Cost Sharing Percentage  -  -  6  -  6 

Total Direct Costs  206  -  297  -  503 
Indirect Costs  32  -  15  -  47 
Total Costs  238  -  312  -  550 

Deferred Depreciation  -  -  -  -  - 
Grand Total - All Costs  238  -  312  -  550 

Description Windows 

1 & 2
Opening Balance  (134)
Add: Cash Receipts from Lead Center  329 
Less: Disbursements  (238)
Closing Balance  (43)

CRP23 PIM - Expenditure and Funding Report

CRP23 PIM - Expenditure Report

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

CRP23 PIM - Funding Report

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 5 - Schedule of CRP Expenditures and 
Funding Report as Participating Center (cont.)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018/19

Expenses by Natural Classification Windows 

1 & 2
Window 
3

Bilateral Center 

Funds
Total

Personnel Costs  31  -  191  -  222 

CGIAR Collaboration Costs  -  -  -  -  - 
Other Collaboration Costs  5  -  320  -  325 
Supplies and Services  29  -  346  -  375 
Operational Travel  3  -  29  -  32 
Depreciation/Amortization  -  -  8  -  8 

Cost Sharing Percentage  -  -  19  -  19 

Total Direct Costs  68  -  913  -  981 

Indirect Costs  10  -  55  -  65 

Total Costs  78  -  968  -  1,046 
Deferred Depreciation  -  -  30  -  30 
Grand Total - All Costs  78  -  998  -  1,076 

Description Windows 

1 & 2
Opening Balance  (8)
Add: Cash Receipts from Lead Center  78 

Less: Disbursements  (78)
Closing Balance  (8)

CRP24 WLE - Expenditure and Funding Report

CRP24 WLE - Expenditure Report

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

CRP24 WLE - Funding Report

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 5 - Schedule of CRP Expenditures and 
Funding Report as Participating Center (cont.)
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Expenses by Natural Classification Windows 

1 & 2
Window 
3

Bilateral Center 

Funds
Total

Personnel Costs  28  -  -  -  28 

CGIAR Collaboration Costs  -  -  -  -  - 
Other Collaboration Costs  -  -  -  -  - 
Supplies and Services  15  -  -  -  15 

Operational Travel  -  -  -  -  - 
Depreciation/Amortization  -  -  -  -  - 
Cost Sharing Percentage  -  -  -  -  - 
Total Direct Costs  43  -  -  -  43 
Indirect Costs  7  -  -  -  7 

Total Costs  50  -  -  -  50 

Deferred Depreciation  -  -  -  -  - 
Grand Total - All Costs  50  -  -  -  50 

Description Windows 

1 & 2
Opening Balance  (9)
Add: Cash Receipts from Lead Center  44 
Less: Disbursements  (50)
Closing Balance  (15)

PTF32 BIGDATA - Expenditure and Funding Report

PTF32 BIGDATA - Expenditure Report

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

PTF32 BIGDATA - Funding Report

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 5 - Schedule of CRP Expenditures and 
Funding Report as Participating Center (cont.)
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Expenses by Natural Classification Windows 

1 & 2
Window 
3

Bilateral Center 

Funds
Total

Personnel Costs  99  -  804  -  903 
CGIAR Collaboration Costs  -  -  -  -  - 
Other Collaboration Costs  2  -  -  -  2 

Supplies and Services  528  -  704  -  1,232 
Operational Travel  87  -  13  -  100 

Depreciation/Amortization  75  -  17  -  92 

Cost Sharing Percentage  31  -  1  -  32 
Total Direct Costs  822  -  1,539  -  2,361 
Indirect Costs  301  -  74  -  375 
Total Costs  1,123  -  1,613  -  2,736 
Deferred Depreciation  331  -  (15)  -  316 
Grand Total - All Costs  1,454  -  1,598  -  3,052 

Description Windows 

1 & 2
Opening Balance  (260)
Add: Cash Receipts from Lead Center  1,616 

Less: Disbursements  (1,454)
Closing Balance  (98)

PTF33 GENEBANK - Expenditure and Funding Report

PTF33 GENEBANK - Expenditure Report

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

PTF33 GENEBANK - Funding Report

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 5 - Schedule of CRP Expenditures and 
Funding Report as Participating Center (cont.)
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Expenses by Natural Classification Windows 

1 & 2
Window 
3

Bilateral Center 

Funds
Total

Personnel Costs  2,815  606  3,601  -  7,022 

CGIAR Collaboration Costs  35  307  -  -  342 
Other Collaboration Costs  202  507  2,126  -  2,835 
Supplies and Services  2,538  879  4,667  -  8,084 
Operational Travel  331  186  479  -  996 

Depreciation/Amortization  266  33  235  -  534 
Cost Sharing Percentage  31  32  209  -  272 

Total Direct Costs  6,218  2,550  11,317  -  20,085 

Indirect Costs  1,126  270  1,257  -  2,653 
Total Costs  7,344  2,820  12,574  -  22,738 
Deferred Depreciation  190  (33)  (45)  -  112 

Grand Total - All Costs  7,534  2,787  12,529  -  22,850 

Total CRP/PTF - Expenditure Report

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 5 - Schedule of CRP Expenditures and 
Funding Report as Participating Center (cont.)
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Expenses by Natural Classification Windows 

1 & 2
Window 
3

Bilateral Center 

Funds
Total

Personnel Costs  -  56  1,276  3,204  4,536 
CGIAR Collaboration Costs  -  -  -  14  14 
Other Collaboration Costs  -  218  592  -  810 

Supplies and Services  -  126  1,993  476  2,595 

Operational Travel  -  33  188  184  405 
Depreciation/Amortization  -  -  25  615  640 
Cost Sharing Percentage  -  2  78  1  81 

Total Direct Costs  -  435  4,152  4,494  9,081 

Indirect Costs  -  54  415  (3,122)  (2,653)
Total Costs  -  489  4,567  1,372  6,428 
Deferred Depreciation  -  -  -  -  - 
Grand Total - All Costs  -  489  4,567  1,372  6,428 

Non-Portfolio - Expenditure Report

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 6 - Schedule of Non-Portfolio 
Expenditure Report 
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Expenses by Natural Classification Windows 

1 & 2
Window 
3

Bilateral Center 

Funds
Total

Personnel Costs  2,815  662  4,877  3,204  11,558 

CGIAR Collaboration Costs  35  307  -  14  356 
Other Collaboration Costs  202  725  2,718  -  3,645 
Supplies and Services  2,538  1,005  6,660  476  10,679 

Operational Travel  331  219  667  184  1,401 
Depreciation/Amortization  266  33  260  615  1,174 
Cost Sharing Percentage  31  34  287  1  353 
Total Direct Costs  6,218  2,985  15,469  4,494  29,166 

Indirect Costs  1,126  324  1,672  (3,122)  - 
Total Costs  7,344  3,309  17,141  1,372  29,166 

Deferred Depreciation  190  (33)  (45)  -  112 

Grand Total - All Costs  7,534  3,276  17,096  1,372  29,278 

Total ICARDA – CRP/PTF and Non-Portfolio - Expenditure Report 

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 7 - Schedule of Total ICARDA 
Expenditure Report 
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A. Fund In Trust - Receivable 

Funds in Trust - Total

Balance, 01 January 428 
Receipts (30)
Disbursements 0 

Provision (130)
Balance, 31 December 268 

Funds In Trust - Details

FT1002 -  Project Facilitation unit PFU Tashkent 
Balance: January 1 262 

Receipts 0 

Disbursements 0 

Provision (130)
Balance, December 31 132 

FT1013 - International Potato Center -CIP (PFU) 
Balance: January 1 11 

Receipts 0 

Disbursements 0 

Balance, December 31 11 

FT3032 TASHKENT - 200233- FIT - ICARDA Project Facilitation Unit (PFU) – ICARDA
Balance: January 1  154 
Receipts  (30)
Disbursements  - 
Balance, December 31  124 

Year ended 31 December 2019

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 8 - Schedule of Funds In Trust 
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B. Fund In Trust - Payable

Funds in Trust - Total

Balance: January 1 (3,245)
Receipts (1,266)
Disbursements 997 

Balance, December 31 (3,514)

Funds In Trust - Details

FT1003 - The International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center -CIMMYT, Pakistan
Balance: January 1 (29)
Receipts 0 

Disbursements 0 

Balance, December 31 (29)

FT1005 - The Association of Agricultural Research institution in the Near East and North Africa ( AARINENA)
Balance: January 1 (123)
Receipts (102)
Disbursements 51 

Balance, December 31 (174)

FT1006 - Central Asia and the Caucasus Association of Agricultural  research institutions CACAARI (PFU)
Balance: January 1  (4)
Receipts  (2)
Disbursements  - 
Balance, December 31  (6)

FT1008 - Morocco

Balance: January 1 (2,898)
Receipts (490)
Disbursements 337 
Balance, December 31 (3,051)

Year ended 31 December 2019 (cont.)

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 8 - Schedule of Funds In Trust (cont.)
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Year ended 31 December 2019 (cont.)

In U.S. Dollars Thousands

Appendix 8 - Schedule of Funds In Trust (cont.)

FT1010 - Bioversity Tushkent (PFU) 

Balance: January 1 (36)
Receipts (402)
Disbursements 334 
Balance, December 31 (104)

FT1014 - International Water Management Institute - IWMI
Balance: January 1 49 
Receipts (270)
Disbursements 187 

Balance, December 31 (34)

FT1016 - International center for Bio saline Agriculture ICBA
Balance: January 1  (140)
Receipts  - 
Disbursements  79 

Balance, December 31  (61)

FT3013 - Australia-Pakistan Agricultural Sector Linkages Program (ASLP) / HORT

Balance: January 1  (64)
Receipts  - 
Disbursements  9 

Balance, December 31  (55)

78



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018/19

Established in 1977, the International Center for Agricultural Research in the Dry Areas 
(ICARDA) is a non-profit, CGIAR Research Center that focusses on delivering innovative 
solutions for sustainable agricultural development in the non-tropical dry areas of the 
developing world. We provide innovative, science-based solutions to improve the livelihoods 
and resilience of resource-poor smallholder farmers. We do this through strategic partnerships, 
linking research to development, and capacity development, and by taking into account gender 
equality and the role of youth in transforming the non-tropical dry areas. 
www.icarda.org

CGIAR is a global research partnership for a food-secure future. CGIAR science is dedicated 
to reducing poverty, enhancing food and nutrition security, and improving natural resources 
and ecosystem services. Its research is carried out by 15 CGIAR centers in close collaboration 
with hundreds of partners, including national and regional research institutes, civil society 
organizations, academia, development organizations and the private sector.
www.cgiar.org
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